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INTRODUCTION 

1. In June 2014, PRASA appointed Siyangena Technologies (Pty) 

Ltd (Siyangena) to execute what was referred to as the ISAMS 

Phase 2 Project, at a cost of more than R2,5 billion. 

2. Some three months later, the parties agreed, in an addendum, 

that Siyangena would provide further services to PRASA – at a 

cost of an additional R800 million. 

3. PRASA’s then Group CEO, Mr Lucky Montana, signed the 

addendum on 30 September 2014. 

4. Just about this time, between August 2014 and October 2014, Mr 

Montana was involved in arrangements for the purchase of three 

properties for a total of more than R36 million. The purchases 

were funded through arrangements made by Mr Adriaan van der 

Walt, an attorney who has acted for Siyangena. 

5. Only a few months earlier, in May 2014, Precise Trade and Invest 

02 (Pty) Ltd (“Precise Trade”), a company of which Mr Van der 

Walt was the sole director, bought a house from Mr Montana. The 

agreed purchase price was R6,8 million, which appeared to be 

some R3 million more than the house was probably valued.  

6. These four transactions are closely examined in this Report. What 

appears to emerge from this examination is the following.  Mr 

Montana was central to each of the purchases, but attempts were 

made to conceal this link, even in respect of the one property that 
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was transferred into his name. Despite this, and the fact that all 

the properties were fully paid for, Mr Montana himself appeared 

not to have paid any money towards the purchases. 

7. Most of the finance for the purchases was made available by Mr 

van der Walt, through an Investec Bank account in the name of 

Precise Trade. One entity that deposited large amounts into 

Precise Trade’s bank account was TMM Holdings (Pty) Ltd 

(“TMM”), who together with Mr Mario Ferreira, had entered into a 

joint venture with Mr Van der Walt. Significantly, TMM deposited 

substantial amounts on the very day that significant payments 

were made to pay for the property purchases.  

8. As part of the overall background, mention should also be made 

of the following. Mr Montana left PRASA on 15 July 2015 only 

some nine months after signing the addendum. Significantly, soon 

after PRASA’s new Board of Control was appointed on 1 August 

2014, Mr Montana told the newly appointed Chairperson, Mr Popo 

Molefe, that he did not intend to renew his contract when it expired 

at the end of March 2015.  

9. The foregoing matters, it is submitted, call for a frank, candid and 

cogent explanation about the four transactions, principally from 

Mr Montana, Mr Van der Walt and Mr Ferreira, who is linked to 

TMM and linked to Siyangena, and who played a principal role in 

securing the addendum that in September 2014 led to the 

extension of Siyangena’s contract with PRASA. Certain other 
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individuals too are constrained to provide proper explanations, 

lest quite adverse inferences are drawn about their role in the 

transactions, whether direct or indirect. 

10. The purpose of this Report is to contextualise the four property 

transactions, by considering among other matters the following: 

the background against which the contracts were concluded; the 

extent to which Mr Montana was involved in each of the 

purchases; how the identity of the purchasers were in two 

instances changed after he or his Trust [the Minor Property Trust],   

of which his children are the beneficiaries, at some stage during 

the transactions made offers to purchase; and how and by whom 

payments were made for the purchases of the four properties. 

11. The matters that are addressed in this Report are the following. 

First, the sources of the information contained in this Report. 

Second, a brief survey of the background against which the 

transactions took place. Third, the circumstances and details of 

each of the four property transactions with which Mr Montana was 

involved. Fourth, Mr Montana’s role in the purchase of three of the 

properties. Fifth, the involvement of other persons and entities, 

including the following: Precise Trade; Mr Van der Walt; TMM 

Holdings; Mr Mario Ferreira; the Minor Property Trust; and Trust’s 

trustee Mr Johan Smith.  
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SOURCES OF INFORMATION  

12. Mr Van der Walt is no longer in the country. However, one of the 

fellow Directors of his law firm, Loubser van der Walt Inc, Mr 

Nicholas Loubser, has made available to the Commission’s 

investigators several documents relating to the property 

transactions. Among the documents is the transactional history of 

Precise Trade’s Investec bank account. It is from this account that 

many of the payments were made and into which “funders” of the 

purchases deposited quite large sums of money, sometimes on 

the day payments were made or a day or so before payments 

were made in respect of the purchases. Furthermore, Mr Van der 

Walt gave insight into some of the transactions in two letters to his 

partners. 

13. Mr Loubser  was requested to set out in an affidavit what he knows 

about the matters referred to in the previous paragraph. It is 

expected that he will annex to his affidavit the relevant documents 

that he handed to the Commission’s investigators. Unfortunately, 

at the time this Report was finalised his affidavit was not to hand. 

Should it be necessary, an addendum to this Report will be 

compiled.  

14. In addition to the documents that Loubser made available to the 

Commission, its investigators have come into possession of 

several documents connected to the transactions. Among them 

are the following: deeds of transfer, offers to purchase and 
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communications preceding the conclusion of the contracts and 

subsequently about their implementation. The Commission’s 

investigators are also in possession of affidavits or sworn 

statements made by an estate agent, an owner and a 

conveyancing attorney. The relevant documents concerning each 

transaction are annexed to the relevant report that has been 

prepared in respect of each of the four properties. 

15. It is perhaps appropriate to explain at this stage why these 

transactions are being presented mainly by way of this Report as 

opposed to by the leading of oral evidence. The reason is this. 

Most of the information set out herein and in the annexed 

individual reports is unlikely to be in dispute. This is because the 

information has been extracted from documents, such a bank 

statements, agreements and correspondence. Presenting the 

information in a Report such as this allows for a more fluid 

presentation. Whilst much of the evidence will be presented by 

way of this Report, and the annexed individual reports, where it is 

required or desirable to do so, oral evidence will be led on certain 

aspects. 

BACKGROUND   

16. The history of PRASA’s contractual relations with Siyangena are 

set out in PRASA’s founding affidavit in its 2018 High Court 

application to have reviewed and set aside contracts it concluded 

with Siyangena. The founding affidavit was made by Ms Martha 
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Ngoye and is part of SS3 of the Record of this Commission. [The 

founding papers in PRASA’s review application are at: PRASA: 

Bundle B, SS3: pp 126-613.] Ms Ngoye thereafter made an 

affidavit in preparation for her evidence to this Commission. [That 

affidavit is in Bundle E: SS7: pp 386-398.] 

17. In this latter affidavit and thereafter in her evidence to this 

Commission, Ms Ngoye summarised the bases on which PRASA 

contended that the contracts it had concluded with Siyangena and 

the extensions and amendments thereto fell to be reviewed and 

set aside. In essence, PRASA contends that the conclusion of the 

contracts and amendments and the grant of extensions were 

tainted with grave irregularities and did not meet the requirements 

of s 217 of the Constitution. 

18. In her affidavit, Ms Ngoye also pointed out that one of the further 

basis on which PRASA applied for the review and setting aside of 

the contracts, amendments and extensions were the financial 

dealings between Mr Montana and Mr Van der Walt, who had 

acted for Siyangena.   

19. In considering the overall background against which the four 

property transactions took place, it is necessary to mention the 

following. 

20. It was soon before, during and soon after the period that Mr 

Montana was taking the steps that led to the purchase of the three 

properties (in Waterkloof, Sandhurst and Hurlingham) that the 
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PRASA and Siyangena agreed to an addendum to a contract that 

had been concluded only three months earlier, in June 2014. 

21. The addendum was signed by Siyangena on cost 19 September 

2014 and by Mr Montana, on behalf of PRASA, on 30 September 

2014. The cost to PRASA was nearly R800 million. [In her affidavit 

of 15 March 2020 [SS7, pp 386-397], Ms Ngoye raises concerns 

about the validity of the addendum [at paragraphs 35-38] and at 

paragraph 39 the validity of all contracts between PRASA and 

Siyangena. 

22. As emerges from a summary of the four property transactions that 

are considered in the next section of this Report, it was during, 

soon before and soon after this period that Mr Montana was 

putting in place measures to purchase the three properties.       

23. It is against the foregoing as the backdrop that it is convenient 

now to consider details relating to the sale of the one property and 

the purchase of the other three. 

THE FOUR PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS 

24. The property transactions with which Mr Montana was involved 

are as follows. First, Precise Trade bought a house that Mr 

Montana owned in Parkwood, Johannesburg, for R6,8 million – 

an amount that was R3,3 million more than Mr Montana’s own 

banker had valued it only 20 months earlier. Second, after Mr 

Montana expressed an interest in a house in Waterkloof, Pretoria, 

SS18-CO-010PRASA-BUNDLE-H-014



 

9 
 

it was eventually sold to Precise Trade for R11 million, but when 

she moved out the previous owner handed over the keys to Mr 

Montana. Third, after Mr Montana’s Trust made an offer to buy a 

house in Sandhurst, Johannesburg, Precise Trade bought it for 

R13,9 million. Fourth, Mr Montana bought a house in Hurlingham 

for R11,5 million. 

25. A consideration of the relevant information relating to the four 

transactions suggests the following. On the one hand, the details 

are quite relevant to a proper appreciation of what went on. On 

the other hand, setting out all the details, including the relevant 

supporting documents, in the body of the Report itself detracts 

from its flow and a proper grasp and appreciation of the big 

picture. In the circumstances, the following approach has been 

adopted. In the next section of this Report, only a summary of 

what happened in respect of each transaction is set out. However, 

annexed to this Report are mini-reports on each transaction. This 

approach, it is submitted, enables one to appreciate, without 

being bogged down by small details, how it came about that Mr 

Montana sold his property in Parkwood and the extent of his 

involvement in the purchase of the other three properties. At the 

same time, the mini-reports enable one to consider, somewhat 

independently of this Overall Report, the details of the sale and of 

each purchase. 

26. In the sub-sections hereunder, the following transactions are 

summarised: the sale by Mr Montana of the house he owned in 
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Parkwood; the purchase of a house in Waterkloof; the purchase 

of a house in Sandhurst; and the purchase of a house in 

Hurlingham.  

The Parkwood property 

27. The facts relating to this property (“the Parkwood Property”) are 

more comprehensively set out in Annexure OR1 hereto, to which 

reference is respectfully made. The sources from which these 

facts are extracted are identified in that annexure. For the 

purposes of this part of the Overall Report, the facts may be 

summarised very briefly as set out in the paragraphs immediately 

hereunder. 

28. First, Mr Montana bought the property [Erf No 359, Parkwood: 10 

Newport Street] on or about 4 July 2008 for R1,85 million. In 

August 2012, Mr Montana’s private banker (from Absa Private 

Bank) valued the property at some R3,5 million. 

29. Second, on 5 May 2014, Precise Trade and Invest 02 (Pty), 

represented by Mr Adriaan van der Walt, offered to purchase the 

property from Mr Montana for R6,8 million, an offer Mr Montana 

accepted on the same day. Transfer was effected on 20 February 

2015.  

30. Third, the effects of what has been set out in the paragraphs 

immediately above is as follows: 
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30.1 Precise Trade paid Mr Montana some R3 million more 

than the probable value of the property, even factoring 

in a generous escalation in its value; and 

30.2 Mr Montana made a profit of nearly R5 million [R4,95 

million] on the property.    

31. Fourth, as regards payment, the agreement provided as follows: 

a deposit of R2,5 million (which could be paid in respect of the 

transfer of the house at which Mr Montana resided) was to be paid 

to Loubser van der Walt Inc by about 4 June 2014; the balance of 

the purchase price would be paid into Loubser van der Walt Inc’s 

trust account by about 3 August 2014.  

32. Fifth, payments towards the purchase price were made, but not in 

accordance with the agreement. For example, no payments were 

made into or out of Loubser van der Walt Inc’s Trust Account: 

payments were made from Precise Trade’s Investec account; a 

“deposit” of R2,25 million, as opposed to R2,5 million, was paid 

but on 18 June 2014, not 4 June. Moreover, periodic payments 

were made from June 2014 to February 2015. In other words, 

payment of the purchase price was not made by 3 August 2014. 

33. Sixth, based on the entries in Precise Trade’s Investec account, 

from which all the payments were made, Mr Montana was paid 

R439 200 less. The question then arises: was payment of that 

amount made from some other account, or was Mr Montana 

simply short-changed of R439 200? 
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34. Seventh, the following matters are not without significance. The 

first deposits into the Investec account, of R1,85 million and R4 

million, were made by TMM – on 18 June 2014. On the very same 

day, payment of the “deposit” of R2,25 million was made. The next 

three payments to Montana from the account, totalling R860 800, 

were made from the monies deposited into the account by TMM 

on 18 June 2014. 

35. Eighth, quite intriguingly, some six weeks after the agreement of 

sale was concluded, Mr Montana signed an addendum which 

imposed on him quite onerous obligations to effect – at his cost – 

specified improvements and/or alterations to a property that he 

had just sold.  

36. Ninth, the addendum recorded the following. A friend of Mr 

Montana was residing at the Parkwood Property, but Mr Montana 

undertook to give Precise Trade vacant possession within 30 days 

of registration, if Precise Trade and Mr Montana’s friend were 

unable to conclude a lease agreement for at least R20 000 a 

month. Transfer was effected on 20 February 2015, but no 

payment of rental is reflected in Precise Trade’s bank statement.  

37. Tenth, the addendum stipulated that it was Mr Montana who must 

bear the costs of the alterations. It is surprising then that Mr 

Montana had improvements effected to the bedroom even though 

the addendum did not require this. 
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38. Eleventh, what is also surprising is this. Mr Montana sent the 

invoices for the improvements and alterations to Mr Van der Walt 

to foot the bill, telling him at one stage that he was “under pressure 

to pay the contractor for additional work”. The amounts that Mr 

Montana required Mr Van der Walt to pay were not trifling, totalling 

more than R1 million. 

39. It is convenient now, to summarise the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the purchase of the Waterkloof Property.   

The Waterkloof property 

40. The facts relating to this property (“the Waterkloof Property”) are 

more comprehensively set out in Annexure OR2 hereto, to which 

reference is respectfully made. The sources from which these 

facts are extracted are identified in that annexure. For the 

purposes of this part of the Overall Report, the facts may be 

summarised very briefly as set out in the paragraphs immediately 

hereunder. 

41. The Waterkloof Property is Remaining Extent of Erf 587, 

Waterkloof Township, Pretoria, and its street address is 225 Rose 

Avenue, Waterkloof. The relevant facts relating to its purchase 

may be summarised briefly as set out hereunder. 

42. First, on 25 August 2014, the Aanmani Guest House CC (“the 

CC”), represented by Ms Karen de Beer, and Mr Johan Smith, in 

his capacity as Trustee of the Minor Property Trust, entered into 
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an agreement in terms of which the CC sold the Waterkloof 

Property to Mr Smith.  

43. Second, the purchase price was R11 million, to be paid as follows: 

a non-refundable deposit of R3,5 million payable within 14 days; 

and the seller to render approved guarantees within 60 days as 

security for the balance of R7,5 million. 

44. Third, the R3,5 million deposit was paid from Precise Trade’s 

Investec account on 23 September 2014 and was reflected as 

“minor property trust loan”. The entry just before that on the bank 

statement reflects that TMM had paid that same amount into 

Precise Trade’s account on the same day. Interestingly, the 

balance of R7,5 million was paid directly to the transferring 

attorneys from TMM with regard to the loan account. Thereafter, 

on 25 February 2015, Precise Trade paid R1 105 084, 92 to the 

transferring attorneys in respect of the costs of the transfer. Not 

coincidentally, it would appear, the entry prior to that entry on 

Precise Trade’s account reflects a deposit by TMM of that exact 

same amount on the same day.     

45. Fourth, payments made from Precise Trade’s Investec account in 

respect of the Waterkloof Property appear to be consistent with 

the agreement between the CC and Mr Smith, in his capacity as 

trustee of the Minor Property Trust. 
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46. Fifth, however, on or about 20 February 2015, a new agreement 

in respect of the purchase of the Waterkloof Property was 

concluded.  

47. Sixth, the most important difference between the two agreements 

is that in the new agreement Precise Trade was reflected as the 

purchaser, in the stead of Mr Smith, the trustee. 

48. Seventh, but there were other changes. Among the more 

significant were the following. As regards payment, the new 

agreement reflected the following: the deposit of R3,5 million had 

already been paid; a further amount of R1,5 million had been paid 

to the seller; and the “balance of the purchase price of R6,5 

million” had been paid into the transferring attorney’s trust 

account. [Intriguingly, properly calculated, the “balance” would be 

R6 million, not R6.5 million as reflected in the amended 

agreement.] 

49. In addition, the new agreement reflected that occupation of the 

property had been given to the purchaser on 1 December 2014 

and that the purchaser would be responsible for occupational 

rental of R50 000 a month until registration. The domicilium of the 

purchaser was changed from that of Mr Smith to that of the 

Loubser van der Walt Inc.  

50. Eighth, the property was transferred to Precise Trade on 8 April 

2015. 
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51. What has been noted above does not reflect that Mr Montana 

himself played a role in the purchase of the Waterkloof Property. 

But, as detailed hereunder, he indeed played a key role.  

Mr Montana’s involvement   

52. According to the sole member of the CC, Ms De Beer, Mr Montana 

was quite central to the transaction. Precisely what Mr Montana’s 

role was and the events leading to Precise Trade becoming the 

purchaser may be summarised as follows. 

53. First, on 10 February 2013, Ms De Beer and Mr Montana 

concluded a deed of sale in terms of which Ms De Beer sold to Mr 

Montana her member’s interest in the CC for R10,5 million. But 

the deal fell through. 

54. Second, when Ms De Beer put the property on the market again 

in August 2014, Mr Montana again indicated an interest. But she 

would not entertain an offer from him, unless he paid a substantial 

deposit. He agreed to pay a non-refundable deposit of R3,5 

million. 

55. Third, whilst the earlier agreement had been concluded in the 

name of Mr Montana, this new agreement was in the name of Mr 

Smith. (The new agreement is the agreement referred to above 

that was concluded on 25 August 2014). 

56. Fourth, Mr Montana however later asked Ms De Beer to change 

the name of the purchaser from Johan Smith to Precise Trade. 
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57. Fifth, the balance of the R7,5 million was eventually paid by Mr 

Van der Walt, whom Ms De Beer describes as “Montana’s 

attorney”, and the deal went through.  

58. Sixth, as regards Mr Montana’s involvement in the transaction, Ms 

De Beer says the following. She first met him in mid-November 

2014, when he walked through the house as he wanted “to check 

some things”. Ms De Beer then “moved out”. On 26 November 

2014, she handed the keys to the property to Mr Montana.  

59. Seventh, on the following day Ms De Beer sent an email to her 

neighbours telling them that “the new owner of [her] property was 

Lucky Montana”. 

60. Ms De Beer also said that she was in no doubt that the CC had 

sold the property to Mr Montana and that the contracting entities 

were merely his alter ego. 

61. It is convenient now, to summarise the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the purchase of the Sandhurst Property. 

The Sandhurst property 

62. The facts relating to this property (“the Sandhurst Property”) are 

more comprehensively set out in Annexure OR3 hereto, to which 

reference is respectfully made. The sources from which these 

facts are extracted are identified in that annexure. For the 

purposes of this part of the Overall Report, the facts may be 
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summarised very briefly as set out in the paragraphs immediately 

hereunder. 

63. The Sandhurst Property is Portion 18 of Erf 1, Sandhurst. Its street 

address is 119 Empire Place, Sandhurst. 

64. The facts relating to its transfer on 6 March 2015 may be 

summarised as set out hereunder. 

65. First, Mr Montana signed an offer to purchase the property on or 

about 26 October 2014, after he had attended a show day. The 

price set out in the offer to purchase was R13,9 million. The seller, 

a Mr N G Kohler, accepted the offer on 28 October 2014. 

66. Second, on 6 November 2014, Mr Van der Walt wrote to the 

estate agent, Mr Green, saying that he held R5 million in “our trust 

account” towards the purchase price. He asked for the Offer to 

Purchase to be forwarded to him and what the amount of the 

deposit was. On 7 November 2014, Mr Green sent a copy of the 

sale agreement and said the deposit payable was R3,9 million. 

67. Third, later that day Mr Van der Walt wrote to Mr Green confirming 

that Precise Trade had paid R5 million into the estate agency’s 

trust account with beneficiary reference being kohler/montana. 

68. Fourth, an entry in Precise Trade’s Investec account notes that on 

7 November 2014 an amount of R5 million was paid to the estate 

agency for 119 Empire Place and an entry on the previous day 

records a deposit of R5 million.  
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69. On 25 November 2014, Mr Van der Walt wrote to Mr Green asking 

that the “buyer” be changed from Mr Montana to Precise Trade. A 

new offer to purchase was sent in the name of Precise Trade, 

which Mr Van der Walt signed on 26 November 2014 and returned 

to Mr Green. (In the new offer, Mr Green noted in manuscript that 

R5 million deposit had been received on 7 November 2014.   

70. Fifth, on 6 March 2015, Precise Trade paid the balance of the 

purchase price.  

71. Sixth, as noted above, on 26 November 2014 Precise Trade was 

reflected as the buyer. But correspondence relating to the 

property was still sent to Montana. And, on 27 November 2014, 

the seller asked Mr Montana [whom he addressed as “Lucky”] if 

he was interested in taking occupation before transfer. Thereafter, 

in response to a query to him by the seller about payment of the 

transfer costs, on 3 February 2015, Mr Montana emailed an  

apology for the delay and said Mr Van der Walt had undertaken 

to pay by the following day at latest. 

72. Seventh, significantly Precise Trade paid the transfer costs of 

R1 105 537,30 on the following day. 

73. Eighth, on 6 March 2015, the balance of the purchase price, being 

R8,9 million, was paid by Precise Trade. Transfer of the property 

from Mr Kohler to Precise Trade was effected on that day. 
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74. Tenth, notwithstanding that ownership of the Sandhurst Property 

was transferred to Precise Trade on 6 March 2015, subsequent 

exchanges relating to the property show that Mr Montana was still 

intimately involved with the property. 

75. Eleventh, among the exchanges that confirm this are the 

following: a request to Mr Montana on 12 March 2015 asking him 

to co-operate with the sellers in the transfer of the electricity 

account; and communications by Mr Green to the sellers 

indicating that he had spoken to Montana about the electricity and 

other issues such as the pool cover; Mr Green’s communicated 

with Mr Montana about the property as late as 23 June 2015. 

76. Twelfth, in between, however, on 10 May 2015 Mr Van der Walt 

suddenly asked Mr Green why he had copied Mr Montana on an 

email relating to the pool cover, saying: “You were well aware of 

the fact, and as I explained to you last year, before the property 

was even bought by my company, that Mr L Montana has nothing 

to do with Precise or this property. Please refrain from this action 

in the future.” Mr Green apologised. However, as indicated earlier, 

Mr Green continued communicating with Mr Montana about the 

Sandhurst Property. 

77. Thirteenth, it would appear that Mr Van der Walt’s reprimand of 

Mr Green was prompted by the fact that in its February 2016 High 

Court application to have the Siyangena contracts reviewed and 

set aside, PRASA had mentioned the Sandhurst Property 
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transaction and suggested that it was an indication of an improper 

financial relationship between Mr Montana and Mr Van der Walt, 

who had acted for Siyangena. Incidentally, Mr Van der Walt’s 

reprimand of Mr Green was two days before he deposed to a 

confirmatory affidavit in Siyangena’s answering papers in that  

review application. 

78. It is convenient now, to summarise the facts and circumstances 

surrounding the purchase of the Hurlingham Property. 

The Hurlingham property     

79. The facts relating to this property (“the Hurlingham Property”) are 

more comprehensively set out in Annexure OR4 hereto, to which 

reference is respectfully made. The sources from which these 

facts are extracted are identified in that annexure. For the 

purposes of this part of the Overall Report, the facts may be 

summarised very briefly as set out in the paragraphs immediately 

hereunder. 

80. The Hurlingham Property refers to the remaining extent of Erf 70, 

Hurlingham Township. Its street address is 12 Montrose Avenue, 

Hurlingham. 

81. The facts relating to the purchase of the property may be 

summarised very briefly as set out hereunder. 

82. First, on 14 May 2015, Ms Merileon Gevisser, the owner, 

accepted an offer by Mr Montana to purchase the property for 
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R13,5 million, payable as follows:  a deposit of R2 million, and the 

balance of R11,5 by the following day. (Importantly, as is detailed 

hereunder, a previous contract between Mr Montana and the 

owner for the sale of the same property was not proceeded with.)  

83. Second, a deposit of R2 million had been paid on 23 March 2015 

[pursuant to the contract that was not proceeded with]. Payment 

was made from Precise Trade’s Investec account.  

84. Third, on 15 May 2015, payment of the R11,5 million was made 

to the conveyancing attorney by an entity called “Midtownbrace”.  

85. Fourth, the property was transferred to Mr Montana on 28 July 

2015.  

86. Two sets of matters relating to the transaction need to be 

considered: events that preceded the sale; and the source of 

finance for the purchase of the property. These two matters are 

considered separately in the paragraphs hereunder. 

The preceding events  

87. The significant matters that preceded the sale of the property to 

Mr Montana may be summarised as set out hereunder. 

88. First, the estate agent Mr Louis Green, who was also involved in 

the sale of the Sandhurst Property, had been mandated by the 

owner to market and sell the Hurlingham Property.  
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89. Second, Mr Montana attended a show day on or about 12 October 

2014, expressed an interest in purchasing the property and asked 

that an offer to purchase be sent to Mr Johan Smith of the Minor 

Property Trust. Mr Smith, representing the Trust, then submitted 

an offer to purchase the property for R12 million. Mr Green told 

the seller that they had received the offer from Mr Montana 

[though it] “is in the name of his Trust”. On 30 October 2014 a new 

offer was made, this time in the name of the Trust. The purchase 

price offered was R13,5 million.  

90. Third, it would appear that nothing came off these two offers It 

also appears that not much happened for some four months.  

91. Fourth, then on 3 March 2015, Mr Montana himself made an offer 

to the seller to purchase the property for R13,5 million, payable 

as follows: a deposit of R2 million within seven days; and the 

balance of R11,5 million to be secured by approved guarantees. 

The seller accepted the offer on the same day. 

92. Fifth, the R2 million deposit was recorded in the conveyancer’s 

bank account on 24 March 2015. On 14 April 2015, Mr Van der 

Walt, on instructions from Mr Montana, asked for more time to 

submit the guarantee. 

93. Sixth, following concerns that the conveyancer expressed about 

the guarantees, that agreement was cancelled and a new one 

was concluded. That is the agreement, as noted earlier, that was 

implemented, with transfer being effected on 28 July 2015. 
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Source of the finance 

94. As noted above, whilst Precise Trade paid the guarantee of R2 

million, payment of the balance of R11,5 million was made by 

Midtownbrace (Pty) Ltd.  

95. One of the directors of Midtownbrace, Mr Wagner has undertaken 

to provide an affidavit setting out how that came about. 

96. At the time that this Report was compiled the affidavit had not 

been furnished to the Commission. Once it is submitted a decision 

will be made as to whether to supplement this Report. 

97. There are a number of matters that arise from the four 

transactions. The more significant of these are considered in the 

sections hereunder. 

 
MR MONTANA’s ROLE  

 
98. The details set out in the previous section about how the 

agreements to purchase the Waterkloof, Sandhurst and 

Hurlingham properties came into being make the following clear. 

It was Mr Montana who was the central figure in the purchases. It 

is correct that two of the properties were transferred to Precise 

Trade, but Mr Montana was the principal role player in all three 

purchases.  

 
99. The following matters that emerge from each of the purchases 

confirm Mr Montana’s central role. 
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100. First, as regards the Waterkloof Property, the following emerges 

about Mr Montana’s role. As far back as February 2013, Mr 

Montana and the seller, Ms De Beer concluded an agreement of 

sale. That deal however fell through. In August 2014, Mr Montana 

again expressed an interest in the property. It was then that an 

agreement was concluded with Mr Smith the Trustee. Thereafter, 

it was Mr Montana who asked the seller to change the name of 

the seller from Mr Smith to Precise Trade. In addition, in mid-

November 2014, it was Mr Montana who walked through the 

house “to check some things”. When Ms De Beer moved out, on 

26 November 2014 she handed the keys to Mr Montana and on 

the following day told her neighbours that “the new owner of [her] 

property was Lucky Montana”. She was in no doubt that the CC 

had sold the property to Mr Montana and that the contracting 

entities were merely his alter ego. 

101. Second, as regards the Sandhurst Property, the following 

emerges about Mr Montana’s role. It was Mr Montana who signed 

the first offer to purchase on 26 October 2014, after he had 

attended a show day, which offer was accepted by the seller. 

However, following a request by Mr Van der Walt on 25 November 

2014, a new offer to purchase in the name of Precise Trade was 

drawn up, which Mr Van der Walt signed on the following day. It 

recorded that the R5 million that the “deposit” [that had been paid 

pursuant to Mr Montana’s offer] had been received on  
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7 November 2014. Even after the change in the name of the 

purchaser, correspondence relating to the property was still sent 

to Mr Montana, whom the seller addressed as “Lucky”. And, when 

the costs were late in being paid, in February 2015 it was Mr 

Montana whom the seller and who apologised and caused Mr Van 

der Walt to make payment on the day after. Even after ownership 

of the property was transferred to Precise Trade [on 6 March 

2015], when the electricity account needed to be transferred, it 

was Mr Montana with whom the estate agent and the seller 

communicated. Accordingly, Mr Van der Walt’s reprimand of Mr 

Green for copying to Mr Montana an email on the pool cover 

appears not only contrived, but a disingenuous attempt to create 

a non-existent distance between Mr Montana and the Sandhurst 

Property. 

102. Third, the Hurlingham Property was transferred to Mr Montana. 

Accordingly, his direct link with the property cannot be disputed. 

However, even in respect of this property, there was an attempt 

to disguise that link, as emerges from the following. After attended 

a show day in the second week of October 2014, Mr Montana 

expressed an interest in purchasing the property, but asked that  

an offer to purchase be sent to Mr Smith, the Trust’s trustee, who 

then submitted an offer to purchase. However, on 30 October 

2014 a new offer was made, but in the name of the Trust. But 

nothing came off those offers. In addition, the first agreement 

between Mr Montana and the seller had to be cancelled and the 
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transfer was effected pursuant to a later agreement between Mr 

Montana and the seller. 

103. As regards the sale by Mr Montana of the Parkwood Property, the 

following matters are worthy of mention. The grossly inflated price 

that Mr Van der Walt, on behalf of Precise Trade, was prepared 

to pay for the property. Mr Montana’s agreeing to an addendum 

that, when implemented, involved expenses of more than R1 

million, which he was to pay, but did not. Finally, the addendum 

stipulated that Mr Montana’s friend would pay Precise Trade rent 

of R20 000 month from 21 February 2015. But Precise Trade’s 

bank account does not reflect any rent being paid. 

104. The foregoing confirms that Montana played a central role in the 

sale of the Parkwood Property and the purchase of Waterkloof 

Property, the Sandhurst Property and the Hurlingham Property. 

However, it also confirms that several other persons were  

significantly involved, at some level or the other, in the 

transactions. This is a matter that is dealt with in the next section 

of the Report. 

OTHER SIGNIFICANT ROLE-PLAYERS  

105. Among the more important role-players are Mr Van der Walt, who 

next to Mr Montana, or perhaps alongside him, was a principal 

figure in the four transactions. The bank statement of Precise 

Trade, the vehicle through which the deals were facilitated or 

principally funded, confirm Mr Van der Walt’s direct involvement 
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in each transaction. So do the letters and emails he or his office 

sent in respect of the transactions. In his two letters to the fellow 

Directors of Loubser van der Walt Inc, he identifies some of the 

persons who provided funding for the purchase of Mr Montana’s 

Parkwood Property and also for payment for the purchases of the 

three other properties that form the subject matter of this Report. 

106. However, what is missing are details of his relationship with Mr 

Montana. Nor does he provide an explanation of how the whole 

scheme was conceived and what the end game was. A copy of 

this Report and other relevant documents will be emailed to Mr 

Van der Walt with an invitation to him to do so. 

107. Be the foregoing as it may, another significant role-player, 

certainly in regard to providing finance for the purchase of the 

Parkwood Property by Precise Trade is TMM. 

108. In this regard, the Commission’s investigators are aware of a 

contract between TMM and Mr Mario Ferreira, on the one hand, 

and Mr Van der Walt, on the other. It is hoped that Mr Loubser 

deals with it in his affidavit.  

109. In addition, Mr Van der Walt refers to payments made towards 

some of the purchases by TMM, which appears to be confirmed 

by entries in Invest Trade’s Investec bank statement. 

110. Given the foregoing, it is submitted that there serious questions 

arise about Mr Mario Ferreira’s relationship with Mr Montana and 
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his reasons for providing such huge sums to fund property 

transactions involving the CEO of a public entity with which at 

least one company with which Mr Ferreira was associated, 

namely Siyangena, had multi-billion rand contracts. 

111. A copy of this Report and other relevant documents will be 

emailed to Mr Ferreira with an initial invitation to deal with the 

matters concerning him, TMM and Siyangena. 

112. In addition, there is the role of Mr Johan Smith, a trustee of the 

Minor Property Trust. As detailed in the Report, he or the Trust 

submitted offers to purchase some of the properties. 

113. A number of questions arise about these offers. Among them are 

the following: what was and is Mr Smith’s relationship with Mr 

Montana; how did it come about that he made the offers; and who 

funded the payments made pursuant to those offers. 

114. A copy of this Report and other relevant documents will be 

emailed to Mr Smith, with an initial invitation to deal with the 

matters concerning him and the Trust. 

115. A number of questions also arise about Mr Montana. Among them 

are the following: what was his relationship with Mr Van der Walt; 

how was the whole scheme to sell his Parkwood Property and 

purchase the other three properties conceived; how did he fund 

the purchase of the properties. A copy of this Report and other 
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relevant documents will be emailed to Mr Montana with an initial 

invitation to him to deal with those and other relevant matters. 

116. Of course, the Report will be sent to the other persons mentioned, 

again with an invitation to respond to its contents insofar as it 

implicates them. 

CONCLUSION 

117. A number of matters are raised in this report about the four 

property transactions. 

118. The persons mentioned who in some way or the other participated 

in the transactions or facilitated them have been invited to set out 

their versions. 

119. After their responses, if any, are received, a further Report will be 

compiled and submitted. 
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        ANNEXURE “OR3 
 

PURCHASE OF THE SANDHURST PROPERTY  
 

 
1. The Sandhurst Property is Portion 18 of Erf 1, Sandhurst. Its street 

address is 119 Empire Place, Sandhurst. 

2. The facts relating to its transfer on 6 March 2015 have been 

extracted from a sworn statement made on 1 October 2015 by Mr 

Louis Green, an estate agent with the firm Pam Golding, and other 

documents relevant to the sale and transfer of the property. 

3. Mr Green’s statement is Annexure SP1 to this Report. Where 

information is sourced from Mr Green’s statement, for the sake of 

convenience, the paragraph that contains the averment will be 

identified. Where information is sourced from other documents, 

they will be annexed to this Report.   

4. In brief, the relevant facts may be summarised as set out in the 

paragraphs hereunder. 

5. First, Mr Montana signed an offer to purchase the property on or 

about 26 October 2014, after he had attended a show day that Mr 

Green held [paragraph 2]. The price set out in the offer to 

purchase was R13, 9 million. The seller, a Mr N G Kohler, 

accepted the offer on 28 October 2014. 
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6. Second, on 6 November 2014, there was an exchange of emails 

between Mr Van der Walt and Mr Green. The exchanges reflect 

the following: 

6.1 Mr Van der Walt first sent an email to Mr Green with a 

letter attached. [Annexure SP2]. The letter was on 

Loubser van der Walt’s letterhead, with the reference: 

TL Montana Transaction. It said: “We herewith confirm 

that we hold in our trust investment account, with 

Investec Bank, an amount of [R5 million] which amount 

is available to be allocated towards the purchase price 

of the property.” [Emphases added.] Mr Van der Walt 

asked for the Offer to Purchase to be forwarded to his 

offices and for confirmation of the amount to be paid as 

the deposit. 

6.2 The following morning, that is, 7 November 2014, Mr 

Green sent an email to Mr Van der Walt. [The email is 

annexed as SP3]. Attached to the email was the 

agreement of sale for the Sandhurst Property. It 

confirmed that the deposit payable was R3, 9 million.  

7. Third, on the afternoon of 7 November 2014, Mr Van der Walt sent 

Mr Green an email [paragraph 3]. Attached to the email was a 

letter from Investec that confirmed the following: “Precise” had 

made a payment of R5 million [not R3,9] into Pam Golding’s trust 

account with beneficiary reference being kohler/montana. [The 
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email (and attachment) is annexed as SP4]. (It will be helpful to 

record the following at this point: an entry in Precise Trade’s 

Investec account on 7 November 2014 notes a withdrawal of R5 

million from the account [for] pam golding 119 Empire Place. An 

entry on the previous day records a deposit of R5 million, with the 

notation: “Precise Loan”.) 

8. Fourth, on 25 November 2014, Mr Green received, via facsimile,  

a letter from Van der Walt asking that the “buyer” be changed from 

Mr Montana to Precise Trade and Invest 02 (Pty) Limited 

[paragraph 5]. Mr Green then sent a new offer to purchase in the 

name of Precise Trade and Invest 02 (Pty) Limited. Mr Van der 

Walt signed the offer on 26 November 2014 and returned it to Mr 

Green [The offer is annexed as SP5]. Interestingly, Mr Green 

noted in manuscript that the deposit of R5 million referred to in 

clause 2.1 had been received on 7 November 2014.   

9. Fifth, Mr Green at some stage also received a copy of a bank 

guarantee issued by Investec for payment of the balance of the 

R8, 9 million [paragraph 7]. 

10. Sixth, thereafter, as noted in Precise Trade’s Investec bank 

statement, and as confirmed by Mr Van der Walt in his second 

letter to fellow Directors, on 6 March 2015, payment of the 

balance of the purchase price [R8, 9 million] was made.  

11. Seventh, notwithstanding that from 26 November 2014 Precise 

Trade was reflected as the buyer in the stead of Mr Montana, 

SS18-CO-137PRASA-BUNDLE-H-141



4 
 

various exchanges relating to the property confirm that Mr 

Montana was still closely involved in the transaction. Among those 

exchanges are the following: 

 On 27 November 2014, Mr Kohler sent an email to Pam 

Golding on which Mr Montana was copied, with this 

question: “Lucky, do you have any interest in taking 

occupation before transfer?” [The email is annexed as 

SP6.] Mr Kohler’s email was in response to an email from 

Pam Golding to among others Mr Kohler and Mr Montana 

attaching the “new offer to purchase” [from Precise Trade 

(Annexure 4 hereto)]  and confirming that, according to 

CIPRO, Mr Van der Walt is Precise Trade’s only director. 

 
 On 28 November 2014, Mr Montana was one of the 

persons to whom a “progress report” relating to the transfer 

of the property was sent by the conveyancing attorneys, 

Snyman Inc. [The email is annexed as SP7]. 

 

 On 29 January 2015 Mr Kohler sent an email to Mr 

Montana inquiring if there had been any progress on the 

payment of the transfer costs. Mr Montana responded by 

email on 3 February 2015. [The emails are annexed as 

SP8]. In his response to Mr Kohler, Mr Montana: 

 
 apologised for the inconvenience caused by the 

delay; 
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 refers to a meeting he and Kgaogelo held with Mr 

Green at Mr Kohler’s house on 1 February 2015 

when he first became aware of the delay; 

 
 said his attorneys had been busy with the VAT 

registration of the trust which involved two other 

properties, which may have caused the delay; 

 
 said he had told his attorneys to abandon the VAT 

registration “for now” and ensure that transfer is 

concluded without further delay;  

 
 said he had discussed the matter with “our 

attorney”, Mr Van der Walt, who had thereafter 

been in contact with the conveyancing attorneys 

and had made an undertaking to settle the fees by 

that day or the next morning at latest. 

12. Seventh, significantly Precise Trade’s Investec account reflects 

that on the day after Mr Montana’s email to Mr Kohler [being 4 

February 2015] payment of an amount of R1 105 537,30 was 

made to the Snymans [the conveyancing attorneys] as “costs” for 

Empire Place. And, in his second letter to his fellow Directors, Mr 

Van der Walt confirms that this payment was made from Precise 

Trade’s Investec account.  
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13. Eighth, on 6 March 2015, the balance of the purchase price was 

paid by Precise Trade. This is confirmed by an entry in its Investec 

bank statement and also by Mr Van der Walt in his second letter 

to his fellow Directors. 

14. Ninth, transfer of the Sandhurst Property from Mr Kohler to 

Precise Trade was effected on the day of that payment, namely 6 

March 2015. [A copy of the Deed of Transfer is annexed as SP9.] 

15. Tenth, notwithstanding that ownership of the Sandhurst Property 

was transferred to Precise Trade, it is clear from subsequent 

exchanges relating to the property that Mr Montana was intimately 

involved with the property. Among the exchanges confirming this 

are the following: 

 On 12 March 2015, an email was sent to Mr Montana on 

behalf of Mr and Mrs Kohler saying the following. Mrs 

Kohler had told Eskom that they had sold the property and 

wished to transfer the electricity account out of her name. 

However, Eskom had said that “the new owners” needed 

to give a “move in” instruction or the electricity supply 

would be cut, which cut-off could lead to flooding of the 

wine cellar. The email then asked Mr Montana to indicate 

a day when they could co-ordinate the move-out and 

move-in instructions. [The email is annexed as SP10.] 

 
 On 19 March 2015, Mr Green sent an email to Mr and Mrs 

Kohler and Mr Montana. In the email, Mr Green said he 
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had “chatted with Lucky” about the transfer of the electricity 

account, the repair of the gate motor and the security 

cameras. He then set out that Mr Montana’s response to 

the issues was as follows: the gate motor should be 

attended to; he would reinstate the security video system; 

and could the transfer of electricity account be held off as 

he was busy. Mr Montana had also said that the pool cover 

should be repaired. He had also asked who the gardening 

and pool cover services companies were “as he would like 

to continue with their services”. 

 
 In addition, a number of emails concerning the pool cover 

were exchanged [Annexure SP11]. They confirm Mr 

Montana’s involvement with the property. In one of those 

(dated 31 March 2015), Mr Montana is referred to as “the 

new owner”. In another (dated 21 April 2015), Mr Green 

asks Mr Montana to indicate when the contractor could be 

allowed “access” to do the repair. (When no response to 

this request was received, Mr Green sent a follow-up email 

to Mr Montana on 23 June 2015.)          

16. Eleventh, in light of the emails exchanged prior to May 2015 that 

are referred to above, it would appear not to be surprising that Mr 

Montana would be copied on exchanges concerning the property. 

However, the following email exchanges from 10 May 2016 
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appear to create a different and incorrect, if not false, impression 

of Mr Montana’s involvement in the Sandhurst Property.  

 On 10 May 2016 [at 12:03], Mr Green emailed Mr Van der 

Walt saying two extra sets of keys for the electric pool 

cover had been found. He copied Mr Montana on the email. 

[Annexure SP12]. 

 
 However, 33 minutes later, at 12:26, Mr Van der Walt sent 

an email to Mr Green [Annexure SP13], asking Mr Green 

to explain why he had cc’ed Mr Montana and added: “You 

were well aware of the fact, and as I explained to you last 

year, before the property was even bought by my 

company, that Mnr L Montana has nothing to do with 

Precise or this property. Please refrain from this action in 

the future.” He then made an arrangement for the handing 

over of the pool cover keys. 

 
 Two minutes later Mr Green sent Mr Van der Walt a one-

word response: “Apologies . . .” [Annexure SP14].        

17. However, notwithstanding the foregoing exchanges, and as 

emerges from Annexure SP10 above, on 23 June 2015, Mr Green 

sent an email to Ms Boitumelo Kgosana [from PRASA] and Mr 

Montana, referring to his email of 21 April and asking that Braam, 

the pool cover contractor, be contacted. 
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18. It would appear that Mr Van der Walt’s response to Mr Green 

detailed above was prompted by the following. PRASA had issued 

its papers in its first review application on 2 February 2016. The 

Sandhurst property had been mentioned in those papers. The 

emails were sent two days before Mr Van der Walt deposed to his 

confirmatory affidavit in that application [Ms Ngoye’s FA in the 

review application: SS3, p 370, para 21.37]. 
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        ANNEXURE “OR4” 

 

PURCHASE OF THE HURLINGHAM PROPERTY  

 
   

1. The Hurlingham Property refers to the remaining extent of Erf 

70, Hurlingham Township. Its street address is 12 Montrose 

Avenue, Hurlingham. 

2. The facts relating to the Hurlingham Property have been 

extracted from an affidavit made on 13 February 2018 by Ms 

Janine Margot Bredenkamp, the attorney who attended to the 

conveyancing on behalf of the owner, Ms Merileon Gevisser, 

and other documents relating to the sale of the property.  

3. Ms Bredenkamp’s affidavit is Annexure HP1 to this Report. 

Where information is sourced from Ms Bredenkamp’s affidavit, 

for the sake of convenience, the paragraph that contains the 

averment will be identified. Where information is sourced from 

other documents, they will be annexed hereto.  

4. In brief, the relevant facts may be summarised as set out in the 

paragraphs hereunder. 

5. First, on 14 May 2015, Ms Gevisser accepted an offer by Mr 

Montana to purchase her property at 12 Montrose Avenue, 

Hurlingham, Johannesburg, for R13,5 million. The offer to 

purchase appears to have been made earlier that day 
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[Annexure HP2].1 In terms of the offer, the purchase price was 

payable as follows:  a deposit of R2 million, and the balance of 

R11,5 by the following day. 

6. Second, a deposit of R2 million had been paid on 24 March 

2015 [paragraph 8]. Precise Trade’s Investec account reflects 

that R2 million was withdrawn from the account on 23 March 

2015 for a payment, which is reflected in manuscript [as being 

for] “12 Montrose”. (It perhaps should be noted that the R2 

million deposit had been paid pursuant to an earlier agreement 

concluded by the parties in early March 2015 but which, as 

detailed hereunder, lapsed.)   

7. Third, on 15 May 2015, payment of the R11,5 million was made 

to the conveyancer via Investec by an entity called 

“Midtownbrace” [Annexure HP3]. 

8. Third, the property was transferred to Mr Montana on 28 July 

2015 [Annexure HP4]. 

9. Whilst the sale of the property appears to be quite 

straightforward, two sets of matters are significant. The first set 

relates to the events that preceded the sale. The second relates 

to the source of finance for the purchase of the property. These 

two matters are considered separately in the paragraphs 

hereunder. 

                                                      
1
 As is detailed in Ms Bredenkamp’s affidavit and later in this Report, a previous sale was 

cancelled because the seller found that the guarantees that had been proferred were 
unacceptable.      
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Matters preceding the sale  

10. The significant matters that preceded the sale of the property to 

Mr Montana may be summarised as set out hereunder. 

11. First, Mr Louis Green, an estate agent with Pam Golding, who it 

will be recalled facilitated the sale of the Sandhurst Property, 

was involved, initially at any rate, in the sale of this property. He 

was mandated by Ms Gevisser to market and sell the property.  

12. Second, Mr Green had the property on show. Mr Montana 

attended on or about 12 October 2014 and immediately 

expressed an interest in purchasing the property [Ms Ngoye’s 

FA in Siyangena review: SS3 pp 370-1, para 21.40]. On 15 

October 2014, Mr Montana asked that an offer to purchase be 

sent to Mr Smith of the Minor Property Trust. Sometime in 

October 2014 [the date is scratched out], Mr Peter Smith, 

representing the Minor Property Trust, submitted an offer to 

purchase the property for R12 million [Annexure HP5]. 

However, in a letter to Ms Gevisser dated 20 October 2014, Mr 

Green said they had received the offer from Mr Montana [though 

it] “is in the name of his Trust” [Annexure HP6]. 

13. Third, following an exchange of emails between Mr Green and 

Mr Smith’s office on 23 October 2014 [Annexure HP7], a new 

offer to purchase the property was made. This offer was dated 

30 October 2014 and was in the name of the Minor Property 

Trust, represented by Mr Smith [Annexure HP8]. The purchase 
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price offered was R13,5 million. (The minutes of a meeting held 

by the Trustees on 23 October 2014 and authorising Mr Smith to 

sign all documents regarding the purchase of “a property” was 

attached to the Trust’s offer to purchase.) 

14. Fourth, it would appear that nothing came off the two offers 

involving the Trust. It also appears that not much happened for 

some four months.  

15. Fifth, then on 3 March 2015, Mr Montana himself made an offer 

to Ms Gevisser to purchase the property [Annexure HP9]. 

Again, the offered purchase price was R13,5 million. The 

purchase price was payable as follows: a deposit of R2 million, 

payable within seven days; and the balance of R11,5 million to 

be secured by approved guarantees in favour of the seller. 

16. Sixth, the R2 million deposit was paid on 24 March 2015 by 

“Precise” into the bank account of the conveyancer, Ms 

Bredenkamp [Annexure HP10]. 

17. Seventh, on 14 April 2015, Mr Van der Walt noted in a letter 

addressed to the conveyancer and to Mr Green that the 

guarantee was to have been rendered on that day [Annexure 

HP11]. The letter went on to note that he had been instructed by 

his client, Mr T L Montana, to seek an extension to 1 June 2015. 

18. Eighth, on 30 April 2015, four guarantees, “on behalf of 

Midtownbrace (Pty) Ltd” were sent to Ms Bredenkamp’s office 

SS18-CO-196PRASA-BUNDLE-H-200



5 
 

[Annexure HP12]. However, for the reasons set out in 

paragraphs 10 to 16 of her affidavit (Annexure HP1), Ms 

Bredenkamp queried the validity of the guarantees. 

19. Ninth, on 4 May 2015, Mr Van de Walt wrote to Ms Bredenkamp 

saying that Mr Montana had obtained finance through 

Midtownbrace (Pty) Ltd, and that R12 million was held in his 

practice’s trust account [Annexure HP13].  

20. Tenth, on 7 May 2015, Ms Bredenkamp wrote to Mr Van der 

Walt cancelling the agreement, but agreeing to a new agreement 

being concluded, on condition that a proper guarantee was 

provided by a registered bank on behalf of the purchaser, not 

Midtownbrace, whose existence was not revealed by a CIPC 

search [Annexure HP14]. 

21. Eleventh, on 8 May 2015, Mr Van der Walt responded to Ms 

Bredenkamp’s letter of 7 May [Annexure HP15]. In the letter, he 

said Midtownbrace was “a client of our offices” that had entered 

into a loan agreement and joint venture “with the purchaser”. He 

agreed that a new agreement be concluded but asked that Mr 

Montana be given more than three days to sign as he was 

required to travel to Cape Town and Parliament “almost on a 

daily basis”. Later that day, Mr Van der Walt, upon being asked 

for Midtownbrace’s registration number, told Ms Bredenkamp’s 

office that Midtownbrace was registered in Botswana [Annexure 

HP16]. 
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22. Thereafter, as noted much earlier in this Report, on 14 May 

2014, Mr Montana and Ms Gevisser entered into a new 

agreement of sale. It is that offer that was taken to completion, 

with transfer being effected on 28 July 2015. 

23. As noted above, whilst Precise Trade paid the guarantee of R2 

million, payment of the balance of R11,5 million was made by an 

entity called Midtownbrace (Pty) Ltd. 

24. One of the directors of Midtownbrace, Mr Andre Wagner has 

undertaken to provide an affidavit setting out how that came 

about. 

25. At the time that this Report was compiled the affidavit had not 

been furnished to the Commission. Once it is submitted a 

decision will be made as to whether to supplement this Report. 
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